FILED 01-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2023AP1399

REBECCA CLARKE, RUBEN ANTHONY, TERRY DAWSON, DANA GLASSTEIN, ANN GROVES-LLOYD, CARL HUJET, JERRY IVERSON, TIA JOHNSON, ANGIE KIRST, SELIKA LAWTON, FABIAN MALDONADO, ANNEMARIE MCCLELLAN, JAMES MCNETT, BRITTANY MURIELLO, ELA JOOSTEN (PARI) SCHILS, NATHANIEL SLACK, MARY SMITH-JOHNSON, DENISE (DEE) SWEET, AND GABRIELLE YOUNG,

Petitioners.

GOVERNOR TONY EVERS, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY; NATHAN ATKINSON, STEPHEN JOSEPH WRIGHT, GARY KRENZ, SARAH J. HAMILTON, JEAN-LUC THIFFEAULT, SOMESH JHA, JOANNE KANE, AND LEAH DUDLEY,

Intervenors-Petitioners

v.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the Petitioners' remedial maps, submitted along with this brief and other supporting materials in accordance with the Court's December 22, 2023 Order, satisfy the redistricting requirements of state and federal law described in the Court's December 22, 2023 opinion.
- 2. Whether the Petitioners' remedial maps satisfy the traditional redistricting criteria described in the Court's Opinion.
 - 3. Whether the Petitioners' remedial maps are politically neutral.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not warranted at this phase of the litigation under the standards in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.22 and pursuant to the Court's December 22, 2023 Order.

Publication is proper under the standards in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1) because the issues raised here are of statewide import and will provide guidance relevant to future decennial redistricting and litigation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 22, 2023, the Court held that Wisconsin's legislative maps violate the state constitution. Clarke v. Wis. Elections Comm'n, 2023 WI 79, ¶3, Wis. 2d , 998 N.W.2d 370 (Dec. 22, 2023). Having found the maps unconstitutional, the Court urged the Legislature to create new maps that satisfy all constitutional requirements. Id., ¶4. However, mindful of the need to have constitutional maps in place in time to comply with all legal requirements necessary to prepare for and administer the November 2024 General Election and the possibility that the Legislature might not pass new maps, the Court invited the parties to submit proposed remedial maps for the Court's review and, if necessary, selection. Id., ¶4, 58, 75-76. In a separate order issued the same day, the Court detailed the process and appointed two qualified consultants to assist the Court in the remedial phase, while emphasizing that the Court must adopt remedial maps in the absence of a legislative solution. Order, Clarke v. Wisconsin Elections Comm'n, No. 23AP1399-OA (Wis. Dec. 22, 2023); Clarke, 2023 WI 79, ¶58 ("If the legislative process does not result in remedial legislative maps, then it will be the job of this court to adopt remedial maps.").

The Court's decision addressed the various constitutional and traditional criteria that the Court, like other courts addressing remedial redistricting, would consider. *Id.*, ¶63-70. Districts must be (1) nearly equal in population, (2) contiguous, and (3) compact. *Id.*, ¶65. In addition, assembly districts must be "bounded by county, precinct, town or ward lines," which the Court applies by

considering the extent to which assembly districts split counties, towns, and wards. Id., ¶66. Assembly districts must also meet the numbering and nesting requirements of Article IV, Sections 2, 4, and 5. Id., ¶65. Additionally, legislative maps must meet the requirements of federal law, including complying with the Equal Protection Clause and the Voting Rights Act of 1965. Id., ¶67. The Court also said it would consider traditional redistricting criteria including reducing municipal splits and preserving communities of interest. Id., ¶68. Finally, to maintain its constitutional role as the only politically neutral branch of government, the Court indicated it would consider partisan information to avoid selecting a remedial map designed to favor voters of a single political party over other Wisconsin voters. Id., ¶71.

In accordance with the Court's December 22, 2023 opinion, the contemporaneous order, and the December 26, 2023 letter from the Court-appointed consultants identifying technical requirements, the Clarke Petitioners submit, along with this brief, proposed remedial maps for the Wisconsin Assembly and Wisconsin Senate ("Clarke assembly map" and "Clarke senate map" and, collectively "Clarke maps"). The Clarke maps meet all criteria set forth in the Court's opinion while remedying the endemic noncontiguity that rendered the current¹ maps unconstitutional.

The Clarke maps are supported not only by this brief, but also by the expert reports of professors Christopher Warshaw and Aaron Weinschenk, and by the

 $^{^1}$ "Current map" or "current maps" as used in this brief refer to the maps enjoined by the Court. Clarke, 2023 WI 79, \P 3.

Declaration of Keith Gabbie. Prof. Warshaw is a nationally renowned political scientist and statistician, whose work focuses on "public opinion, representation, elections, and polarization in American Politics." App. 010 (Warshaw). Prof. Warshaw is widely published in this area and has provided expert analyses in eleven redistricting-related cases. App. 008-010 (Warshaw). Prof. Warshaw explains that the Clarke maps satisfy the legal requirements of population equality, contiguity, compactness, and nesting, while also respecting county, town, or ward lines. App. 012-021 (Warshaw). Moreover, Prof. Warshaw found that the Clarke maps contain relatively few municipal splits and are politically neutral based on widely accepted metrics. App. 015-017, 022-029 (Warshaw).

Prof. Weinschenk is a tenured professor at the University of Wisconsin-Green Bay, where he serves as the Chair of Political Science. App. 061 (Weinschenk). Prof. Weinschenk's academic research focuses on "voting, campaigns and elections, political participation, public opinion, and political psychology." App. 061 (Weinschenk). Prof. Weinschenk has been widely published on those topics. App. 061 (Weinschenk). Much of Prof. Weinschenk's work is focused on Wisconsin, about which he has written extensively. Prof. Weinschenk has also been involved in applied work regarding Wisconsin communities. App. 061-062 (Weinschenk). Prof. Weinschenk's opinions in this case focus on Wisconsin's communities of interest. He describes how the current assembly and senate districts divide communities throughout the state and how the Clarke maps

preserve those communities of interest by placing them within legislative districts, thereby promoting representative governance in the state. App. 064 (Weinschenk).

The Clarke maps are also supported by declaration of Prof. Ronald Keith Gaddie. Prof. Gaddie is the Hoffman Endowed Chair and Professor of Political Science at Texas Christian University in Fort Worth, Texas, and has authored several books on elections, campaigns and voting rights. For 13 years, Prof. Gaddie has served as a redistricting and election law expert and consultant, and is particularly knowledgeable regarding Wisconsin's legislative districts, having served as an expert in *Baldus v. Members of the Government Accountability Board* on behalf of the defendants in that case, the Wisconsin Government Accountability Board. Prof. Gaddie has assessed the Clarke Petitioners' proposed maps and finds them to be responsive and politically neutral. App. 125-126 (Gaddie).

The Clarke maps perform well on each of the criteria the Court has identified. Should the Legislature be unable, or unwilling, to pass constitutional maps, the Court should select these remedial maps for use in future Wisconsin legislative elections.

ARGUMENT

I. The Clarke maps satisfy the redistricting requirements of state and federal law.

The Clarke maps satisfy the redistricting requirements of state and federal law, including: (1) population equality; (2) contiguity; (3) being bounded by county,

town, or ward lines; (4) compactness; (5) nesting of assembly districts within senate districts; and (6) the Equal Protection Clause and Voting Rights Act.

A. The Clarke maps satisfy the equal-population requirement.

The Clarke maps satisfy the equal population requirement. A court-imposed remedial map is "held to a higher standard than state legislatures" in equally populating districts and must have "little more than de minimis variation" in district population. *Clarke*, 2023 WI 79, ¶64 (internal citation omitted). In its discussion of the redistricting principles guiding the remedial process, this Court cited several court-imposed remedial maps in Wisconsin with overall deviations ranging from 0.52% to 1.88% as satisfying this de minimis standard. *See id.*; *see also Johnson v. Wis. Elections Comm'n*, 2022 WI 14, ¶36, 400 Wis. 2d 626, 971 N.W.2d 402 ("*Johnson II*"), *overruled on other grounds*, *Clarke*, 2023 WI 79. The Court also observed that "[b]elow 1 percent, there are no legally or politically relevant degrees of perfection." *Clarke*, 2023 WI 79, ¶64 (quoting *Prosser v. Elections Bd.*, 793 F. Supp. 859, 866 (W.D. Wis. 1992)).

The Clarke maps meet this standard. The Clarke assembly map has an overall population deviation (from the district with the lowest population to the district with the highest population) of 0.92% and an average deviation per district of just 0.23%. App. 012-013 (Warshaw). The Clarke senate map has an overall population deviation of 0.65% and an average deviation per district of just 0.14%. App. 013 (Warshaw). These population deviations fall on the low end of the range of prior

court-imposed or legislatively enacted redistricting maps in Wisconsin, as the chart below shows.

Wisconsin Assembly Map Population Deviations

Map	Average Deviation	Maximum Deviation
1992 Prosser court-imposed	Not available ²	0.91%
2002 Baumgart courtimposed	Not available	1.59%
2011 Act 43	0.16%	0.76%
2022 Johnson II courtimposed	0.47%	1.88%
2022 Johnson III courtimposed	0.19%	0.76%
2024 Clarke Map	0.23%	0.92%

Wisconsin Senate Map Population Deviations

Map	Average Deviation	Maximum Deviation
1992 Prosser court-imposed	Not available	0.52%
2002 Baumgart courtimposed	Not available	0.98%
2011 Act 43	0.09%	0.62%
2022 Johnson II court-		
imposed	0.25%	1.21%
2022 Johnson III court-	0.10%	0.57%
imposed	0.1070	0.3770
2024 Clarke Map	0.14%	0.65%

App. 013 (Warshaw).

The Clarke maps satisfy the de minimis population-deviation requirements for court-imposed remedial maps.

² This information was not available from expert reports from litigation over certain prior maps.

Filed 01-12-2024

Case 2023AP001399

B. The Clarke maps have contiguous districts.

The Clarke maps have contiguous districts. Districts satisfy the Wisconsin Constitution's contiguity requirements where their territory is "touching such that one could travel from one point in the district to any other point in the district without crossing district lines." *Clarke*, 2023 WI 79 ¶66. This standard permits districts containing physical islands (land separated from the rest of the district by water) and districts containing territory that meets only at single a "touch point." *Id.* ¶¶27-29.

The Clarke maps are 100% contiguous. To be clear, several districts bordering water (*e.g.* Lake Superior, Lake Michigan, Green Bay, and Lake Winnebago) include actual islands, a feature that complies with the contiguity requirement.³ Clarke, 2023 WI 79, ¶27; App. 018-019 (Warshaw). One assembly district and its corresponding senate district (assembly district 54) (senate district 18) also contain a single ward that connects at a "touch point" to the rest of the district. This is because the districts are bounded by the boundary line separating the Town of Buchanan and the Village of Combined Locks in Outagamie County. App. 019 (Warshaw). The Town of Buchanan contains a single ward (Ward 7), with zero population, that meets at a point with the rest of the Town. App. 019 (Warshaw). That single instance of touch-point contiguity is within the boundaries of a town—as opposed to connecting two distinct towns by touch point—and does not affect the

³ These districts are Clarke assembly districts 1, 21, 36, 42, 52, 57, 73, 74, and 88 and Clarke senate districts 1, 7, 12, 14, 18, 19, 25, and 30. App. 018-019 (Warshaw).

district's compactness and satisfies the contiguity requirement. *See Clarke*, 2023 WI 79, ¶¶28-29; App. 019 (Warshaw).

The Clarke maps fully comply with the Constitution's contiguity requirements.

C. The Clarke maps' districts are bounded by county, town, or ward lines.

The Clarke maps satisfy the constitutional requirement that assembly districts be "bounded by county, [] town or ward lines." Wis. Const. art. IV, § 4. In assessing a remedial map's compliance with this requirement, this Court "considers the extent to which assembly districts split counties, towns, and wards (particularly towns and wards as the smaller political subdivisions), although [it] no longer interpret[s] the requirement to entirely prohibit any splitting of the enumerated political subdivisions." *Clarke*, 2023 WI 79, ¶66.

The Clarke maps score particularly well in this regard. Every district in the Clark assembly map has outer boundaries that follow a county, town, or ward line. App. 013 (Warshaw). And the maps minimize county, town, and ward splits.

1. The Clarke maps minimize county splits.

The Clarke maps minimize the number of county splits, outperforming on this metric all prior maps extending back more than 30 years. The Clarke assembly map splits 44 counties. App. 014 (Warshaw). The Clarke senate map splits 34

counties. App. 014 (Warshaw).⁴ As shown in the chart below, this is substantially fewer county splits than prior maps have included.

Wisconsin Assembly Plans County Splits⁵

Мар	No. of Counties Split	Total Splits	Number of Districts Within Split Counties
1992 <i>Prosser</i> courtimposed	47	Not available	Not available
2002 Baumgart courtimposed	51	Not available	Not available
2011 Act 43	58	177	235
2022 Johnson II court-imposed	53	177	230
2022 Johnson III court-imposed	53	159	212
2024 Clarke Map	44	152	196

_

⁴ One of these 34 is Monroe County, and it is only split by a single Census Block with zero population. This is to keep the Village of Ontario—primarily located in Vernon County with a single unpopulated Census Block extending into Monroe County—whole. App. 014 (Warshaw).

⁵ "Total Splits" refers to the number of lines through a political subdivision, *i.e.*, a county containing two districts is split once. "Number of Districts Within Split Counties", which Prof. Warshaw describes as "Split district-county intersections," refers to the number of districts contained within all the split political subdivisions reported in a chart.

Wisconsin Senate Plans County Splits

Мар	No. of Counties Split	Total Splits	Number of Districts Within Split Counties
1992 <i>Prosser</i> courtimposed	35	Not available	Not available
2002 Baumgart courtimposed	42	Not available	Not available
2011 Act 43	47	88	135
2022 Johnson II court-imposed	45	92	137
2022 Johnson III court-imposed	42	73	115
2024 Clarke Map	34	73	107

App. 014 (Warshaw).

2. The Clarke maps minimize town splits.

The Clarke maps also minimize town splits. This Court has emphasized the importance of avoiding splits of Wisconsin's towns (relative to counties, cities, or villages), because they are included in the Constitution's "bounded" provision (unlike cities and villages) and are smaller with fewer residents. *See Clarke*, 2023 WI 79, ¶66; *Johnson v. Wis. Elections Comm'n*, 2021 WI 87, ¶35, 399 Wis. 2d 623, 967 N.W.2d 469 ("*Johnson I*"), *overruled on other grounds*, *Clarke*, 2023 WI 79 (noting that "the smaller the political subdivision, the easier it may be to preserve its boundaries"). The Clarke maps split fewer towns than the current maps, as shown below.

Assembly Map Town Split Comparison

Мар	No. of Towns Split	Total Splits
2022 Johnson III court-imposed	16	16
2024 Clarke Map	10	13

Senate Map County Split Comparison

Мар	No. of Towns Split	Total Splits
2022 Johnson III court-imposed	8	8
2024 Clarke Map	6	7

App. 015 (Warshaw).

Notably, the few towns split by the Clarke maps include two that have been or will soon be absorbed by other municipalities—the Town of Madison and the Town of Blooming Grove in Dane County.⁶ App. 017, 037, 039 (Warshaw). Although the Town of Madison existed in the 2020 LTSB redistricting data file, it no longer exists in reality—it was attached to the Cities of Madison and Fitchburg in October 2022. App. 017 (Warshaw). The Town of Blooming Grove, also, will cease to exist as of 2027 when it is absorbed into the City of Madison. App. 017 (Warshaw). Of the towns that still exist today, the Clarke assembly map actually splits only 9 and the senate map splits only 7.

⁶ These are the only towns split into more than two pieces.

3. The Clarke map splits a single ward—a Town of Madison ward—that no longer exists.

The Clarke maps split only a single ward—Town of Madison Ward 3. App. 017 (Warshaw). The bulk of this ward is in Clarke assembly district 47 with two small noncontiguous pieces of the ward in Clarke assembly district 78. Like the Town of Madison, this ward exists only as part of the 2020 LTSB redistricting data set, which predated the ward's dissolution on October 31, 2022. As Prof. Warshaw explains, the City of Madison has since absorbed Town of Madison Ward 3 and replaced its noncontiguous pieces with individual wards of the City of Madison. App. 017-018 (Warshaw). As a result, while this "counts" as a ward split within the 2020 LTSB redistricting dataset, it has no relevance in the real world. The Clarke maps "split" this ward because of its complicated geography—it stretched a significant distance and interlocked with City of Madison Ward 91 which in turn had noncontiguous pieces of Town of Middleton Ward 8 within its border. App. 018 (Warshaw). "Splitting" it improved the compactness of the districts and minimized municipal splits of still-extant municipalities. Given that the ward and its municipality no longer exist—and its replacement ward boundaries in effect today are *not* split by the Clarke maps, its illusory split was a prudent decision.

Moreover, even accepting Town of Madison Ward 3 as one to consider, splitting it does not affect the conclusion that every district in the Clarke maps is bounded by county, town, or ward lines. The ward itself is noncontiguous, and its pieces are located within the interior area of Clarke assembly districts 47 and 78.

Splitting this ward thus does not cause the exterior boundaries of either district to depart from their adherence to county, town, or ward lines. App. 019 (Warshaw).

D. The Clarke maps have compact districts.

The Clarke maps have compact districts. Article IV, Section 4 of the Wisconsin Constitution requires that assembly districts be "in as compact form as practicable," but Article IV, section 5 contains no compactness requirement for senate districts. "[T]he constitutional text furnishes some latitude in meeting this requirement." *Johnson I*, 2021 WI 87, ¶37. "Compactness is generally defined as 'closely united in territory,' although this court has never adopted a particular measure of compactness." *Clarke*, 2023 WI 79, ¶66 (quoting *Wisconsin State AFL-CIO v. Elections Bd.*, 543 F. Supp. 630, 634 (E.D. Wis. 1982)). In *Johnson II*, this Court observed that once a map passes the bar of being sufficiently compact to satisfy the constitutional requirement, "better performance ... becomes commendable, but not constitutionally required." *Johnson II*, 2022 WI 14, ¶35.

Two commonly used metrics for compactness are the "Reock" score—which measures the ratio of a district's area to its smallest surrounding circle—and the "Polsby-Popper" score—which focuses on the length of the perimeter of a district. Higher scores generally reflect more compact districts. App. 020 (Warshaw). As Prof. Warshaw explains, the Polsby-Popper score in particular—with its emphasis on the length of the perimeter of a district's boundary—is affected by irregular

⁷ Consistent with the parties' stipulation, we do not report here "splits" of the wards with erroneous ward fragments in the LTSB redistricting data set.

boundaries found along water and of many of Wisconsin's municipalities. App. 020-021 (Warshaw). Better adhering to municipality boundaries thus may have the effect of the Polsby-Popper score decreasing—warranting care in interpreting its values. App. 021 (Warshaw).

Notably, the Clarke maps both exceed the Reock and Polsby-Popper scores of the current maps, which this Court found sufficient to satisfy the constitutional compactness requirement in *Johnson III. Johnson v. Wis. Elections Comm'n*, 2022 WI 19, ¶70, 401 Wis. 2d 198, 972 N.W.2d 559 ("*Johnson III*"). They also exceed the scores for the map the Governor proposed in *Johnson*, which this Court initially adopted and found to be sufficiently compact in *Johnson II. Johnson II*, 2022 WI 14, ¶36; App. 020 (Warshaw). A comparison of compactness scores is shown in the table below.

Assembly Map Compactness Score Comparison

Мар	Polsby-Popper Score	Reock Score
2002 Baumgart court-imposed	0.29	0.41
2011 Act 43	0.231	0.392
2022 Johnson II court-imposed	0.250	0.400
2022 Johnson III court-imposed	0.243	0.382
2024 Clarke Map	0.302	0.406

Senate Map Compactness Score Comparison

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