**FILED** 10-30-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

Filed 10-30-2023

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2023AP1399-OA

REBECCA CLARKE, RUBEN ANTHONY, TERRY DAWSON, DANA GLASSTEIN, ANN GROVES-LLOYD, CARL HUJET, JERRY IVERSON, TIA JOHNSON, ANGIE KIRST, SELIKA LAWTON, FABIAN MALDONADO, ANNEMARIE MCCLELLAN, JAMES MCNETT, BRITTANY MURIELLO, ELA JOOSTEN (PARI) SCHILS, NATHANIEL SLACK, MARY SMITH-JOHNSON, DENISE SWEET, and GABRIELLE YOUNG,

### Petitioners.

GOVERNOR TONY EVERS, in his official capacity; NATHAN ATKINSON, STEPHEN JOSEPH WRIGHT, GARY KRENZ, SARAH J. HAMILTON, JEAN-LUC THIFFEAULT, SOMESH JHA, JOANNE KANE and LEAH DUDLEY,

Intervenors-Petitioners,

v.

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The following first responds to Respondents' arguments regarding this Court's four questions in its October 6 order. Second, this brief addresses various procedural arguments that Respondents raise in an attempt to derail this already-accepted original action.

- I. Response on questions presented by the Court's October 6 order.
  - A. Respondents fail to come to terms with the plain language of the Wisconsin Constitution, which requires "contiguous territory," not districts that are politically contiguous.

The current state legislative maps violate article IV, sections 4 and 5 of the Wisconsin Constitution, which require legislative districts to be composed of "contiguous territory." The meaning of "contiguous" is clear: it requires physical connection. Historical evidence supports this, including the original rationales behind the contiguity requirement: to prevent gerrymandering and create districts with uniform needs.

Wisconsin's maps should be revamped to make legislative districts contiguous, conforming with constitutional districting requirements and enhancing the democratic power of voters.

1. Respondents advocate for an interpretation that is contrary to the Constitution's text.

Article IV does not permit legislative districts to have noncontiguous municipal islands. Dictionary definitions and early Wisconsin caselaw confirm this interpretation. Respondents nonetheless argue that the contiguity clause only requires a district's towns and counties to be connected—not that each district must be a contiguous body of land. (Legislature's Br. 29–34.) The argument is neither grounded in precedent nor text.

There are three requirements for districts under article IV, section 4: "[1] to be "bounded by county, precinct, town, or ward lines, [2] to consist of contiguous territory and [3] be in as compact form as practicable." Wis. Const. art. IV, § 4. Because the clauses are joined by the word "and," districts must comply with all three. See Bartholomew v. Wis. Patients Comp. Fund & Compcare Health Servs. Ins. Corp., 2006 WI 91, ¶ 79, 293 Wis. 2d 38, 717 N.W.2d 216.

The "bounded" clause provides that a district's outer borders must adhere to one of four enumerated governmental units, rather than to arbitrary boundaries. Districts must be bounded by either county, precinct, town, or ward lines.

The second clause discussing "contiguous territory" provides an additional independent requirement for a district's shape. The third clause, which requires compactness, also states an independent requirement.

At the time of the Constitution's enactment, "contiguous" meant "[t]ouching" and "territory" meant "[t]he extent or compass of land within the bounds or belonging to the jurisdiction of any state, city or other body." Noah Webster's American Dictionary of the English Language (1828). If the contiguity clause was intended to require only that governmental units be contiguous (see Legislature's Br. 29–30), that is what it would have said. Respondents may not substitute terms, or collapse requirements into one another, to change the meaning of the Constitution's plain text. See State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶ 30, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165.

Filed 10-30-2023

Respondents also offer historical dictionary entries that define "contiguous" to mean physical proximity or nearness. (Legislature's Br. 35–36.) Rather than help Respondents, these definitions reenforce that the principal definition of contiguous requires physical connection. To illustrate, nearly all the cited definitions begin with words like "touching," "adjoining," "actual contact," or "bordering." See, e.g., Contiguous, The Imperial Dictionary of the English Language (1828) ("[t]ouching; meeting or joining at the surface or border; close together; neighboring; bordering or adjoining"). Only two of Respondents' quoted definitions refer to proximity without contact, and these are labeled as "loose," ancillary meanings. (Legislature's Br. 36 n.4.)

Late 1800's Wisconsin caselaw further supports the physically connected meaning of contiguity, and these authorities remain good law. Soon after the Constitution was ratified, Chicago & Northwest Railroad Co. v. Town of Oconto interpreted article IV's contiguity requirement to preclude legislative districts with detached areas. 50 Wis. 189, 6 N.W. 607, 609 (1880). Article IV contiguity was a clear basis for Oconto's holding, so Oconto's article IV discussion was not dicta, as some Respondents incorrectly suggest. (Johnson Br. 12-13.)

State ex rel. Lamb v. Cunningham's statement that contiguity prohibits detached lands was not dicta, either. 83 Wis. 90, 53 N.W. 35, 57 (1892). Lamb reviewed the 1892 apportionment act for equality of representation and compliance with other constitutional requirements, including contiguity. The statements about contiguity thus were not dicta but were "germane to the . . . controversy at issue." Zarder v. Humana Ins. Co., 2010 WI 35, ¶ 52 n.19, 324 Wis. 2d 325, 782 N.W.2d 682 (citation omitted).

Town of Blooming Grove v. City of Madison, 275 Wis. 342, 344, 81 N.W.2d 721 (1957), changes nothing. (Johnson Br. 12.) Blooming Grove simply held that there is no independent constitutional prohibition on towns' annexation of detached areas; it did not take into consideration Oconto's holding interpreting article IV. Blooming Grove expressly stated that the effect that annexations might have on the composition of legislative districts was not before the court. 275 Wis. at 348–50.

Respondents also contend that the Court need not conform with the Constitution's contiguity requirement if it is other with balanced competing districting (Legislature's Br. 39–40 (citing Bethune-Hill v. Va. State Bd. of Elections, 580 U.S. 178, 187 (2017).) However, the Constitution says nothing about balancing contiguity. Contiguity is a mandate. The "balancing" described in Bethune-Hill referred to balancing otherdistricting "considerations," not constitutional requirements, 580 U.S. at 180. Further, while in some instances federal requirements may trump state criteria, e.g., Baumgart v. Wendelberger, No. 01-C-0121, 2002 WL 34127471, at \*3 (E.D. Wis. May 30, 2002), that is not the case with contiguity.

Respondents' view that the Constitution permits physically noncontiguous districts should be rejected as unterhered from both the plain meaning of the text and past interpretation by the courts.

2. Political contiguity is not constitutionally required, and recent municipal legislation and practices have no bearing on constitutional interpretation.

Respondents contend that political contiguity satisfies the Wisconsin Constitution based on Wisconsin's recent history of municipal annexation and districting practices. Specifically, municipal island territories have been permitted under municipal annexation laws. See 1925 Wis. Laws ch. 314. And from 1971 to 2011, municipal islands were statutorily treated as contiguous for districting purposes. See Wis. Stat. § 4.001 (2010). This argument fails for several reasons.

First, annexation laws and practices in the 1960's and 1970's are not the focus of constitutional interpretation—what matters is the context and understanding at the time of ratification. *Wis. Just. Initiative, Inc. v. Wis. Elections Comm'n*, 2023 WI 38, ¶ 22, 407 Wis. 2d 87, 990 N.W.2d 122.

Second, unlike legislative districts, the Constitution does not require municipalities to consist of contiguous territory. So just because island territories are considered "politically contiguous" to their towns for municipal law purposes does not mean they meet constitutional standards for legislative districts. (See Legislature's Br. 37.) It is easy to reconcile municipal islands with contiguous legislative districts. Both can, and should, simultaneously exist.

Third, the 1971 law that treated island annexations as contiguous for districting purposes was repealed in 2011. 2011 Wis. Act 43. It does not follow that, just because the law was passed and went unchallenged for many years, the law was constitutional. It also does not matter that municipal islands appear in recent districting maps. (Legislature's Br. 38.) Noncontiguous legislative districts were not constitutional then, and they are not constitutional now.

Finally, Respondents argue that political contiguity is sufficient because literal contiguity is unworkable in the context of Wisconsin's water boundaries. They point to legislative districts created in 1861 and 1876 composed of counties on either side of Green Bay and not connected by land. (Legislature's Br. 36–37.) They also suggest that if literal contiguity is followed, Wisconsin's islands in Lake Michigan and Lake Superior must be their own legislative districts. (Legislature's Br. 35.)

But courts in maritime states are in agreement that contiguous territory includes open water that extends to islands forming a state's seaward boundary. Lamson v. Sec'y of Commonwealth, 168 N.E.2d 480, 487 (1960) (For a maritime state, "the word 'territory' in the expression 'contiguous territory'... includes water spaces."); Hickel v. Se. Conf., 846 P.2d 38, 45 (Alaska 1992) ("[A] contiguous district may contain some amount of open sea."). The historical presence of "rowboat" districts in Wisconsin does nothing to undermine that territorial contiguity applies as the rule.

## 3. Johnson is not precedential on contiguity and, even it were, it should not be followed.

Respondents contend that the Court is bound by the doctrine of stare decisis vis-à-vis *Johnson*. But *Johnson* has no bearing on the contiguity issue here for two reasons.

First, Johnson did not analyze the term "contiguous territory"; instead, it adopted the gloss from  $Prosser\ v$ .  $Elections\ Bd.$ , 793 F. Supp. 859 (W.D. Wis. 1992) (per curiam);  $see\ Johnson\ v$ .  $Wis.\ Elections\ Comm'n\ ("Johnson\ I")$ , 2021 WI 87, ¶ 36, 399 Wis. 2d 623, 967 N.W.2d 469.  $Prosser\ did$  not analyze Wisconsin caselaw regarding contiguity, including binding authority like Oconto and Lamb. Further, Johnson neither overturned Lamb nor reconciled Prosser's holding with Wisconsin's constitutional text. The brief statements in  $Johnson\ were$  not a reasoned holding and thus have no precedential value.

Second, even if *Johnson* were precedential, it should not be followed. Stare decisis is at its weakest when there is a constitutional infirmity at issue. *See State v. Lynch*, 2016 WI 66, ¶ 39 n.18, 371 Wis. 2d 1, 885 N.W.2d 89. Relatedly, this Court has discussed "the danger of rigidly adhering to the doctrine of stare decisis at the expense of fidelity to the constitution." *Black v. City of Milwaukee*, 2016 WI 47, ¶ 58,

369 Wis. 2d 272, 882 N.W.2d 333; see also Daniel R. Suhr, Kevin LeRoy, The Past and the Present: Stare Decisis in Wisconsin Law, 102 Marq. L. Rev. 839, 854 (2019) ("the court must exercise greater scrutiny of its precedents in constitutional cases").

Therefore, "stare decisis does not require us to retain constitutional interpretations that were objectively wrong when made." *Koschkee v. Taylor*, 2019 WI 76, ¶ 8 n.5, 387 Wis. 2d 552, 929 N.W.2d 600. As this Court explained, "an independent analysis of the issues presented herein better serves the interests of the public," *id.*, even where a "mere three years ago" the Court may have addressed the same issue. *Id.* ¶ 59 (A.W. Bradley, J., dissenting). That is, this Court has departed from precedent when "it is unsound in principle." *State v. Johnson*, 2023 WI 39, ¶ 47, 407 Wis. 2d 195, 990 N.W.2d 174.

There is no sound reason to cleave to *Johnson's* offhand adoption of *Prosser's* take on contiguity. If it applied to begin with, stare decisis should not be followed here.

## 4. To remedy contiguity, the state legislative districts must be redrawn.

Fixing contiguity is not as simple as Respondents suggest. Rather, the territorial contiguity flaws require redrawing each map to fix the constitutional flaws while complying with other districting principles.

First, the Constitution requires dissolving municipal islands into surrounding districts so that they are contiguous, but that gives rise to another redistricting issue: municipal splits. While municipal splits may be permitted to a certain extent, districting principles require avoiding them when possible. Specifically, "maintenance of municipal boundaries [is] important" and "municipal splits should be used sparingly." Wis. State AFL-CIO v. Elections Bd., 543 F. Supp. 630, 636 (E.D. Wis. 1982); Baumgart, 2002 WL 34127471, at

Filed 10-30-2023

\*3 (discussing avoiding municipal splits as a traditional districting criterion).

Currently, an alleged 55 assembly districts and 21 senate districts contain a total of 211 islands. (Pet'rs' Br. 42; Johnson Br. 8.) Respondents' proposed remedy—simply dissolving them—would create hundreds of municipal splits. And for the 198 municipal islands that are populated, residents would be represented by different legislators than the rest of their municipalities, reducing their power as voters to advocate for their municipal interests.

Second, Respondents concede that just dissolving islands would result in a total population deviation of 9.73%. (Johnson Br. 32.) That is far higher than other modern Wisconsin redistricting courts have accepted, which require a 2% deviation or lower. See, e.g., Wis. State AFL-CIO, 543 F. Supp. at 634 ("We believe that a constitutionally acceptable plan . . . should, if possible, be kept below 2%."). Further, court-ordered districting plans are held to higher equality standards than legislative maps; only a *de minimis* deviation is appropriate. Chapman v. Meier, 420 U.S. 1, 26–27 (1975). The 9.73% deviation proposed by Respondents is simply too high.

Dissolving municipal islands into surrounding districts is an inadequate remedy. Given the large number of municipal islands in Wisconsin, many districts would require complete reconfiguration, placing municipal islands internally within a district and avoiding an unjustifiably high population deviation. The contiguity violations require redistricting anew.

#### В. Respondents do not rebut that Johnson's adoption of vetoed maps violated the Constitution's Wisconsin separation powers.

Filed 10-30-2023

The Johnson Court's errors include and exceed accepting the Legislature's previously vetoed plan; it supercharged the Legislature's power at the expense of the Governor's and Court's own constitutional roles in the redistricting process. The Court first started down a misguided path when it adopted a "least-change" approach to redistricting that entrenched legislative power and abdicated the Court's proper role in impasse litigation. The culmination was the *Johnson* Court's adoption of the exact maps that the Governor vetoed—ignoring both the Governor's exclusive veto authority and the Constitution's exclusive method for veto override. Under these unique circumstances, the Court's decisions stretch the Wisconsin Constitution's separation of powers architecture beyond its permissible bounds.

Seeking to avoid the separation of powers issues, Respondents construct a strawman: that the Governor is trying to force the Legislature out of redistricting litigation. He is not.

### Judicial override of the Governor's 1. constitutional veto authority intrudes on Wisconsin's separation of powers.

"[N]o branch [is] subordinate to the other, no branch [may] arrogate to itself control over the other except as is provided by the constitution, and no branch [may] exercise the power committed by the constitution to another." State v. Holmes, 106 Wis. 2d 31, 42, 315 N.W.2d 703 (1982). As for the power of the Governor, Wisconsin law is clear: his veto power "confers a discretion of the most absolute and unquestionable character, as free from restraint as the very vote of the [Legislature]. It is beyond control by courts, whether by mandamus or otherwise." Rudolph v. Hutchinson, 134 Wis.

283, 114 N.W. 453, 454 (1908). Respondents do not identify any contrary Wisconsin authority because there is none.

There is no exception in the redistricting context. As this Court has emphasized, once the Governor has vetoed proposed maps, they "cannot become law unless both houses of the legislature vote to override that veto." *State ex rel. Reynolds v. Zimmerman*, 22 Wis. 2d 544, 557, 126 N.W.2d 551 (1964). In other words, legislative veto override is the exclusive way for vetoed redistricting maps to "become law." *Id.*; Wis. Const. art. V, § 10. "Only a super majority of the legislature (two-thirds of the members present) may override the governor's veto of any bill." *Wis. Small Business United, Inc. v. Brennan*, 2020 WI 69, ¶ 50, 393 Wis. 2d 308, 946 N.W.2d 101 (Bradley, R., J., dissenting).

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